IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC00-253

JOHN C. MARQUARD,

Appellant,

V.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ST. JOHNS COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

JULIUS J. AULISIO CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL-MIDDLE REGION 3801 Corporex Park Drive, Suite 210 Tampa, Florida 33619 (813)740-3544

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On December 6, 1991, a St. John's County Grand Jury indicted Mr. Marquard for principle to first degree murder. (M V1, 1) A superseding indictment charging Mr. Marquard with first degree murder and armed robbery was issued April 24, 1992. (M V1, 41) Mr. Marquard's jury trial commenced January 11, 1993, and concluded January 15, 1993. (M V4-V11, 696-1785) The jury found him guilty on both charges and recommended death. (MV9, 1465-66, V11, 1780) On February 5, 1993, the circuit court adjudicated Mr. Marquard guilty of one count of first degree murder and, in accordance with the jury's recommendation, sentenced him to death. (M V11, 1809, 1820)

Mr. Marquard unsuccessfully appealed his first degree murder conviction and death sentence. Marquard v. State, 641 So. 2d 542 (Fla. 1994). Mr. Marquard filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the United States Supreme Court which was denied January 23, 1995. Marquard v. Florida, 115 S.Ct. 946 (1995).

Mr. Marquard filed a 3.850 Motion to Vacate Judgment of Convictions and Sentence on March 17, 1997, in conformance with the March 24, 1997, due date established by this Court (M V1, 1-42). Mr. Marquard filed an amended motion to vacate judgment of conviction and sentence with special request for leave to amend on February 22, 1999 (V3, 443-507). The trial court found this amended motion to be

legally sufficient and entered an order for the State Attorney to file an answer to the motion by May 7, 1999 (V3, R509). On May 7, 1999, the State filed its response (V3, R577-585).

On May 12, 1999, the trial court issued an order on Mr. Marquard's amended motion to vacate judgment of conviction and sentence (V3, R585-586). The court granted an evidentiary hearing on Claims one and two, which were ineffective assistance of counsel claims. The court held Claims three, four, five, and eight were procedurally barred (V3, R585, 586). The court denied Claims six and seven (V3, R585, 586).

Mr. Marquard filed an amended motion to vacate judgment and sentence on November 16, 1999, adding the claim that the co-defendant's life sentence should be considered as newly discovered evidence of mitigation for proportionality consideration (V4, R647-656). Mr. Marquard's attempt to file a separate pro se motion was denied, but the court did allow the separate pro-se motion to be filed and made a part of the record.(V4, R657-660).

The court held an evidentiary hearing on Claims one and two on November 16 and 18, 1999 (M V6 and 7, 1078, 1079,1080; V2 and 3, R1-355).

Mariah Harrelson testified she ran a foster home where John Marquard lived when John was 12 or 13 years old (V6, R12). Mrs. Harrelson's foster home was not

a therapeutic foster home and she had no professional training in therapy (V6, R12). Mrs. Harrelson testified John Marquard was a shy, playful, mild mannered child who didn't like to fight and worked and played well with the other children in the home. John was more of a follower than a leader and was not a bully (V6, R13, 14).

Ms. Harrelson met John's mother on a couple of occasions and noticed no closeness between John and his mother (V6, R14). Mrs. Harrelson testified John's father never visited, so John rode a bicycle about 55 miles one night to find his father. Social Services hoped this event would force John's father to become involved in John's life (V6, R15, 16,18). John Marquard's trial attorneys never contacted Ms. Harrelson, but if they had, Mrs. Harrelson would have testified at his trial, as she did at the evidentiary hearing (V6, R18).

Michael Abshire, the codefendant in this case, testified at the evidentiary hearing that he knew John Marquard well since late 1988 or early 1989 (V6, R21). Abshire and John were roommates in 1990, and from that time, they were pretty much inseparable (V6, R22). They used the drug ephedrine, which is speed and is used as the base for crank or crystal meth, daily (V6, R22, 26). During the week, Abshire and John used beer, ephedrine and marijuana (V6, R22, 24). On the weekends, Abshire and John took LSD, Sinequan, marijuana, and whatever was available (V6, R24). Marquard drank a fifth of Canadian Mist and Abshire drank a fifth of tequila, which

John also drank mixed with beer (V6, R24). They smoked marijuana like cigarettes (V6, R26). They did not sleep during these weekend binges, which lasted from Thursday until Sunday night (V6, R25). John lost his job because he was high every Friday (V6, R28). John and Abshire lost days due to blackouts caused by their routine weekend binges (V6, R28, 29). With the exception of a few intervening months, this alcohol and drug consumption continued from March of 1990, until they arrived in Florida in June of 1991 (V6, R29).

On the day of the murder, John and Abshire looked for jobs (V6, R31). While looking for work, they took ephedrine (V6, R40). After 5 p.m., they drank tequila and beer in the motel room (V6, R32). After dark, Abshire and John went to a bar called Scarlett O'Hara's (V6, R32). There they each drank two long neck beers (V6, R32). Abshire had a date, and he separated from John for about an hour. Abshire does not know what alcohol or drugs John consumed during that time (V6, R32). Abshire's date didn't work out, so he and John went to the Tradewinds bar (V6, R33). There they drank one pint of beer every ten or fifteen minutes until the band quit (V6, R52). They also took ephedrine all night (V6, R33, 34). When they returned to the motel, they might have drank more alcohol and smoked marijuana (V6, R34).

The night of the murder, John drove because he always drove when they drank (V6. R44). Abshire did not pay attention to his driving (V6, R44, 54). While in the

woods, Abshire saw John stab the victim, but he did not see him cut the victim's throat or an actual throat injury (V6, R45). Abshire testified he thought the victim was alive and hurting, so Abshire chopped her neck as hard as he could (V6, R35, 36).

Prior to coming to Florida, Abshire met John's mother. John and his mother fought every time she was drunk (V6, R37). John's mother drank alcohol excessively, smoked, and looked like a person dying of AIDS (V6, R38). One night John's mother tried to have sex with Abshire while John was in the next room (V6, R53).

Abshire testified that at the time of John's trial, Abshire knew he was going to death row and felt like John deserved to die (V6, R50). Mr. Marquard's attorneys never contacted Abshire about testifying at Marquard's trial (V6, R50).

Eric Wallen testified at the evidentiary hearing that he met John Marquard through Father Baker (V6, R56). Marquard didn't have a place to stay, so he lived with Eric and his family in Saint Augustine for a year or year and a half (V6, R56). John was about 17 and Eric was about 15 (V6, R57). Eric's family was very close and John seemed unprepared for a family environment (V6, R58, 59). John was withdrawn and spaced out at times (V6, R59).

During the year and a half Eric and John used drugs and alcohol daily (V6, R57). They used any drugs they could find, including marijuana, alcohol, PCP, prescription drugs, and LSD (V6, R57, 63). Eric and John would pass out and could

not remember what happened for days before (V6, R62). Eric easily led John to criminal activity (V6, R60). John was not violent, dodged fights, and did not retaliate when hit (V6, R65, 66).

Eric also knew Abshire and described Abshire as an explosive person (V6, R61). While at prison, Eric saw Abshire almost attack a person with a shovel because he stole Abshire's produce from his row of the prison garden (V6, R61). Abshire was easily angered (V6, R67). Abshire guarded his friendships and would go into a rage if he felt someone invaded on his friendships (V6, R64, 65). Abshire does not think before reacting violently (V6, R65).

Trial counsel never contacted Eric Wallen, but if they had, he would have testified as he did at the evidentiary hearing (V6, R69).

John's oldest sister, Becky Marquard Hicks, testified at the evidentiary hearing. She is six years older than John and lived in the same house with John until she was about 12 years old (V6, R73, 74). Their mother claimed she was a witch, threatening the children with spells (V6, R84, 85). When John was about five years old, their father worked 9 to 5 while their alcoholic mother drank at home (V6, R76). Their mother was violent and physically abusive when drunk (V6, R76, 77). Their mother never hugged the children or showed them affection (V6, R90). Becky never saw John's father hug him (V6, R90). After an extremely violent fight between Becky and

their mother, John's father, Roger Marquard, took the girls and left John with his mother (V6, R78, 79).

Three years later, when Becky was fifteen, she spent a couple of months with her mother and John (V6, R80). Their mother did not work and started drinking in the morning and drank all day long until she passed out (V6, R81). John was nine or ten years old that summer, and his mother would take him to bars. Their mother used marijuana, cocaine, and hash in front of them (V6, R82). That summer, ten-year-old John overdosed on quaaludes and his mother did not know and could not help because she was passed out at home (V6, R84).

John's trial attorneys never contacted Becky for John's trial; but had counsel contacted her, she would have testified on John's behalf as she did at the evidentiary hearing (V6, R91).

Trial counsel Gary Wood testified at the evidentiary hearing. He and cocounsel Howard Pearl worked for the Public Defender's Office when they represented John Marquard (V6, R102). Although Mr. Wood had extensive trial experience, this was his first capital case before a jury (V6, R105). Howard Pearl, who died before the evidentiary hearing, tried the penalty phase (V6, R106). Wood left the Public Defender's Office and began working as a prosecutor in July of 1994 (V6, R106, 107). Wood was still working with the State Attorney's office at the time of the evidentiary hearing, but he testified it did not affect his testimony at the hearing (V6, R107, 108).

In preparation for trial, Wood spoke to John's mother on the telephone (V6, R110, 111). Wood did not recall ever talking to John's father (V6, R109). Although they had an investigator, Wood did the investigation on the case (V6, R113). Wood traveled to Clearwater to take depositions of some state witnesses, but he did not recall developing any defense witnesses (V6, R113). Wood did recall trying to contact Father Baker, but he was not successful (V6, R113). Wood never contacted John's sisters, Amy or Becky (V6, R113). Nor did Wood contact Eric Walen (V6, R114). Wood did know that John lived in St. Johns County prior to the murder (V6, R114, 115). Wood also learned that Father Baker had made living arrangements for John, but Wood never made contact with Father Baker to learn where John lived when he was in St. Augustine (V6, R115, 116).

Wood conducted the jury voir dire in this case (V6, R116). Wood thought he remembered trying to rehabilitate Mr. Robinson, an African-American juror, but said that the transcripts would best reflect what occurred (V6, R117, 143).

Wood did not try to impeach Abshire with his deposition statement that nobody could get between him and John (V6, R118). Wood did not try to call Hobart Harrison or David Blanks to impeach Abshire's testimony (V6, R118, 119). Wood said that

Harrison is not a consistent person in his demeanor or his testimony because Harrison lied to authorities when he was first arrested on his own case (V6, R119). Wood said he would not call either of these two witnesses in phase one of the trial because they both involved Mr. Marquard in the killing (V6, R120). Wood testified he did not present Harrison or Blanks in phase two because they had credibility problems, even though the state presented Abshire who had similar credibility problems (V6, R120, 21). Wood and Pearl never talked to Harrison to prepare him as a witness at trial (V6, R121).

Wood and Pearl represented Harrison on his second degree murder conviction (V6, R122). Wood and Pearl did not file a motion to withdraw due to conflict because Harrison did not become a state witness until after Harrison's case was completed, Harrison talked more about Abshire than he did about John, and the state did not present Harrison in John's case (V6, R122). Wood and Pearl did not feel that Harrison could have been used in mitigation to lessen John's culpability (V6, R122, 123).

Wood contacted no witnesses to try to develop John's history of drug and alcohol use (V6, R129). Wood did not object to the prosecutor bringing a skeleton into the courtroom and dressing it in the victim's shirt because he did not think the objection would be well founded (V6, R129, 130). Wood did not object to the introduction of the victim's bones because he did not think it would be well founded

(V6, R130).

Counsel presented Dr. Krop as the sole witness at penalty phase. Wood testified their strategy was to assign Dr. Krop the responsibility of preparing mitigation for the penalty phase of the trial (V6, R144). Wood did not independently find witnesses for Dr. Krop because Dr. Krop had been doing this sort of work for years (V6, R156). Wood provided documents to Dr. Krop, but he did not verify any of the information contained in those documents (V6, R156).

Hobart Harrison testified at John Marquard's evidentiary hearing that, had counsel contacted him, he would have testified at John Marquard's trial that Abshire told him that Abshire killed the victim (V7, R161, 162). Wood and Pearl also represented Harrison and Wood attended Harrison's deposition in this case (V7, R165). Harrison testified at Abshire's trial that Abshire told him that Abshire cut the victim's head off and left a piece of skin to hold it on (V7, R163).

At the evidentiary hearing, the court accepted Dr. Amiel as an expert in the field of psychiatry (V7, R169-172). Dr. Amiel indicated that, based on information provided by John Marquard and the records, John's impulse control may have been mildly impaired (V7, R182, 183). John has no memory of the actual incident (V7, R183). Dr. Amiel opined that John suffered a psychogenic amnestic period during which he could not recall what happened (V7, R183). Dr. Amiel testified that John

was genetically predisposed to alcohol abuse. John suffered chronic depression which induced alcohol use as a form of self medication (V7, R188, 191).

At the evidentiary hearing, the court accepted Dr. Crown as an expert in the field of clinical and forensic psychology and neuropsychology (V7, R196-199). Dr. Crown administered a number of tests that Dr. Krop, who was hired for trial, failed to administer (V7, R199, 200). Dr. Krop did not give tests that would look at the possibility of brain damage caused by alcohol, drugs, and fetal alcohol effects (V7, R205). Dr. Crown chose the tests that addressed the relationship between brain function and behavior. Because Dr. Crown did not have evidence of a lesion or brain tumor, he looked for diffuse developmental patterns of neuropsychological impairment or disfunction and personality functioning (V7, R206). Dr. Crown concluded that John has a significant thought disorder, a significant processing deficit, personality problems of long-standing duration, including schizophrenia, paranoid type, in a subacute stage, and a specific auditory processing defici. (V7, R202, 203).

John's thought disturbance caused him difficulty discerning reality (V7, R207). His thought disturbance, in combination with his auditory deficit, reduced his capacity to reason and exercise sound judgment (V7, R207, 208). Paranoid schizophrenia usually develops in late adolescence or early adulthood, and John's thought disturbance likely developed long before the crimes in this case occurred (V7, R209).

John's symptoms were probably worse at the time of the crime (V7, R209, 210).

The court accepted Cheryl Furtick, as an expert in the field of social work (V7, R221-228). Ms. Furtick did a psychosocial assessment of John which included interviews with witnesses and review of documents (V7, R229). Ms. Furtik testified that Dr. Krop only provided an outline of the deficits John experienced throughout his life, and Dr. Krop did not provide any details of why John was involved in this crime (V7, R237). Dr. Krop did not provide any specific details of John's early childhood, sexual abuse, intensity of emotional cutoff, and intensity of depression that John experienced (V7, R238). Ms. Furtik testified that the state recommended mental health treatment for John when he was ten or eleven years old, but that, through state and parental neglect, John did not receive the help he needed (V7, R238). The state evaluation records Dr. Krop relied upon contained conclusions made about John's behavior, such as he has tendencies of explosive behavior, without including notes of day to day behavior to support such a conclusion. (V7, R239).

Dr. Krop failed to explain to the jury that John was hospitalized for three days and discharged with a deferred diagnosis of explosive personality disorder (V7, R240). Ms. Furtick testified that "deferred" meant there was not enough information to assign that diagnosis to John when he left the hospital, so the hospital diagnosed him with adjustment disorder with emotional features (V7, R240). John was

discharged with no medication, and, within two weeks, he attempted suicide and was admitted to a diagnostic center (V7, R240). John's problems were noted from age 5 in kindergarten, but the diagnoses throughout the years are inconsistent (V7, R240). Dr. Krop failed to explain this in the penalty phase (V7, R240).

The records that Ms. Furtick reviewed revealed numerous systems failures when John was in placements (V7, R247). The trial court denied John Marquard the opportunity to present examples of system failures under the objection that Ms. Furtik was not competent to testify in that area (V7, R247, 248). The trial court denied any proffer (V7, R248).

Ms. Furtik testified that the social support and environment in which John grew up was woefully inadequate (V7, R249). When John was between six and ten years old, he was exposed to a very explicit promiscuous behavior (V7, R249). School records reported that John was sexually abused (V7, R249). In kindergarten, school officials noted that John was restless, agitated, and had attention problems, yet there was no referral (V7, R249). John always looked for approval and acceptance by others but never received it (V7, R249, 250). John's most stable environments, outside of the Department of Corrections, were the boys home and the foster home (V7, R250).

John was referred to mental health services at ten or eleven years old while living at the boys home (V7, R249). The state objected to Furtick's response to the

question where John went after the boys home. Furtick indicated: "He left the boys' home after 18 months and it was recommended that be placed in a specialized treatment home." Without any basis for the objection, the court sustained the objection and struck Furtick's response (V7, R250).

Ms. Furtick would have contacted John's mother, grandfather, grandmother, and sister Amy, all of whom are now dead, had counsel consulted her before trial (V7, R247).

The state called John's father, Roger Marquard, as a witness at the evidentiary hearing (V7, R253). Roger left the country about a month before John was born (V7, R254, 266). Roger testified his wife did not drink when she was pregnant with John, but later admitted he did not know if she drank during the time he left the country prior to John's birth and during John's early childhood (V7, R262, 266, 267).

Roger said that John had a deprived childhood from the time his parents divorced when he was six years old until he lived with Roger about eight years later (V7, R264). Roger separated from his wife because she was an alcoholic and abused their daughters (V7, R268). John witnessed his mother intoxicated and violent (V7, R275). Roger took his daughters but left John with his wife because she did not physically abuse him (V7, R268). Roger's lawyer did not think he could get custody of John, and John and his mother disappeared (V7, R255).

Roger said he couldn't do anything from the time John was six until he was twelve, when Roger found out where John was (V7, R272). Roger testified he had court ordered visitation rights (V7 T258). Roger visited John twice when he was in the boys home (V7, R272).

Roger did not know whether John was ever hospitalized for a head injury. Roger did not know if John had blackouts (V7, R262). Roger indicated John had problems but not a mental defect (V7, R258). When asked if John could think or plan rationally, Roger replied; "He was in a lot of trouble." (V7, R258, 259)

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