IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHN C. MARQUARD,

v.

Appellant,

CASE NO. SC00-253

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ST. JOHNS COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #0998818 444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (904) 238-4990 Fax (904) 226-0457

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Neil, 457 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1984). (R448). It is axiomatic that issues not raised in the trial court cannot be presented for the first time on appeal to this Court. That is just what Marquard has done, and the issue contained in his brief is not properly before this Court.

To the extent that further discussion of this claim is necessary, the juror at issue was challenged for cause by the State, and that cause challenge, which was based on Witherspoon, was granted. (R916). Obviously, a challenge for cause based upon a juror's fixed opposition to the death penalty is not the same thing as the racially motivated **peremptory** challenge at issue in the Batson/Neil line of cases. Marquard's attempt to blend inconsistent legal theories is disingenuous, and does not supply a basis for reversal of the lower court's denial of relief.

The next claim of ineffective assistance of guilt phase counsel is Marquard's claim that trial counsel should have impeached Abshire and that counsel should have called Harrison and Blanks to testify. The trial court made the following findings with respect to this claim:

In Claim I(B)(7), the Defendant faults trial counsel for failing to impeach the co-defendant, Abshire, concerning statements that the co-defendant gave to the police relating to Defendant's intoxication through the use of alcohol and drugs, and concerning the co-defendant's charge role in the homicide. A careful review of the record in this case, reveals that the co-defendant's prior statements to police never indicated that the Defendant was intoxicated at the time of the commission of the crime and that all statements to the police by the

co-defendant are, in fact, consistent with the co-defendant's trial testimony. A copy of the relevant portions of the trial transcripts is attached hereto as Exhibit#2. A copy of Michael Abshire's confession is attached hereto as Exhibit #3. The co-defendant, Abshire, at all times maintained that the Defendant, Marquard, was in, the instigator, moving force, and dominant participant in the commission of the crime. A copy of the testimony of Michael Abshire is attached hereto as Exhibit #4.

The Defendant also claims ineffective assistance of counsel in that trial counsel failed to call Hobart Harrison as a witness in this case. Counsel for the Defendant did call Hobart Harrison as a witness at the motion for post conviction relief evidentiary hearing. Hobart Harrison is presently serving a prison sentence and was serving such sentence at the time of the original trial. Hobart Harrison has a long criminal record and his testimony was not worthy of belief. Trial counsel testified at the evidentiary hearing, that he made a tactical decision not to call Hobart Harrison, because he was not willing to vouch for his credibility and Hobart Harrison's testimony would have implicated the Defendant. Lightbourne v. State, 471 So.2d 27 (Fla. 1985); Magill v. State, 457 So.2d 1367 (Fla. 1984); Beard v. State, 548 So.2d 675, 676 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989) (the decision whether to call a witness or not is usually a tactical decision made by the lawyer and should not be second-quessed by a court.). The Court finds that the trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to call Hobart Harrison.

(R729-30). Those findings, which were made after a full evidentiary hearing, are supported by the evidence, are in accord with settled law, and should not be disturbed.

To the extent that further discussion of counsel's informed decision not to call Harrison as a witness is necessary, the cautionary language of the United States Supreme Court bears repeating:

Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential. It is all too tempting for a defendant to

second-quess counsel's assistance after conviction or adverse sentence, and it is all too easy for a court, examining counsel's defense after it has proved unsuccessful, to conclude that a particular act or omission of counsel was unreasonable. Cf. Engle v. Isaac, 456 U.S. 107, 133-134, 102 S.Ct. 1558, 1574-1575, 71 L.Ed.2d 783 (1982). A fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time. Because of the difficulties inherent in making the evaluation, a court must indulge a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance; that is, the defendant must overcome the presumption that, under the circumstances, the challenged action "might be considered sound trial strategy." See Michel v. Louisiana, supra, 350 U.S., at 101, 76 S.Ct., at 164. There are countless ways to provide effective assistance in any given case. Even the best criminal defense attorneys would not defend a particular client in the same way.

Strickland v. Washington, supra, at 689.²¹ [emphasis added]. Trial counsel's decision as to which witnesses to call was a strategic decision that was made with full knowledge of the facts necessary to reach an informed decision. Counsel's performance was not deficient, and the trial court's denial of relief should not be disturbed.

Marquard's next sub-issue is his claim that the trial court erred in not ruling on his claim of ineffective assistance of

Blanks was not mentioned in the Rule 3.850 motion, and he did not testify at the Rule 3.850 hearing. Trial counsel was familiar with him, and testified that Blanks' statement did not show Marquard's innocence, and, moreover, that he would not call Blanks to testify because of his lack of credibility.

counsel which was related to the admission into evidence of certain of the victim's bones. Trial counsel testified that the bones at issue (which were limited in number) were introduced into evidence, were a part of the testimony of Dr. Maples, and, because they were in evidence there was no means to prevent them from going to the jury room during deliberations. (R130-31).²² Because there was no legal basis to exclude the bones, counsel was not ineffective for not objecting to them.

Likewise, there was no basis on which to move to exclude the videotape of the crime scene. Despite the tone of Marquard's brief, the crime scene in this case was, compared to many, rather benign. There was no videotape of a blood-spattered room, nor was there film of a body that had been decomposing in the Florida sun. Instead, the video depicted skeletal remains, which, while doubtless unpleasant, are not prejudicial, are highly relevant, and were properly admitted. Of course, murder is a grisly affair, and a killer should not be heard to complain because the jury is made aware of the true nature of his handiwork. Hall v. Black, 891 F.2d 89, 91-92 n.1 (5th Circuit 1989). There is no ineffective assistance of counsel, and no basis for relief.

Pull Maples' testimony and check on "post-mortem injuries".

Marks on the bones, which occurred when the victim was stabbed, were discussed during the testimony of Dr. Maples. (R1276-1296). The jury was entitled to see the subject of Dr. Maples' testimony for itself.

VI. THE INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE/ PROSECUTORIAL ARGUMENT CLAIM

On pages 80-81 of his brief, Marquard sets out what appears to be a claim that a *Caldwell v. Mississippi* violation occurred, and that the collateral proceeding trial court should have conducted a hearing on this claim. This claim is unworthy of this Court's attention for the following reasons.

This claim is not properly before this Court because it was not contained in Marquard's Rule 3.850 motion²³. It is axiomatic that claims cannot be raised for the first time on appeal from the denial of Rule 3.850 relief.

Even if this claim had been contained in the Rule 3.850 motion, there would be no basis for relief. The only relief Marquard has requested is an evidentiary hearing on a purely legal claim. Because there was no error under *Caldwell*, the incantation of "ineffective assistance of counsel" does not suffice to entitle him to an evidentiary hearing when there is no merit to the substantive claim.

Moreover, without waiving any defense as to the lack of preservation of this claim, it is clear that the jury was instructed in conformity with well-settled Florida law. (TR 777, 864, and 1770) See, Rutherford v. Moore, 774 So 2d 637 (Fla.

Marquard's *Initial Brief* contains no citation to the record on appeal, and does not identify any ruling by the trial court on this "claim".

2000); Cherry v. State, 2000 WL 1424539 (Fla. 2000). There would be no basis for relief even if Marquard had properly raised this claim.

VII. THE SHACKLING CLAIM

On pages 82-83, Marquard argues that the trial court should have granted him a hearing on his claim that "the jury saw him handcuffed during the trial." *Initial Brief*, at 82. In his brief, Marquard asserts that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to ask the court to poll the jurors to determine the prejudicial effect or to seek a cautionary instruction." *Initial Brief*, at 82-3. This claim is undeserving of this Court's attention.

Like the preceding claim, this claim was not raised in the Rule 3.850 trial court. While Marquard did include a shackling claim in his Rule 3.850 motion, the ineffective assistance of counsel component was wholly different from that advanced in his original motion, the brief. Ιn the sole reference ineffectiveness was in the caption, where Marquard asserted that counsel was ineffective for "not requesting the handcuffs be removed". Motion, at 62. That bare assertion has been embellished, if only slightly, in Marquard's brief, and now adds different specifications of alleged "ineffectiveness". However, the true facts are that the claim raised below, which the trial court ruled on, is not the claim pressed on appeal to this Court. Florida law is settled that issues cannot be raised for the first time on appeal from the denial of Rule 3.850 relief.

Moreover, there is no evidence to suggest that this claim has any factual basis, and, in any event, the claim contained in the Rule 3.850 motion is procedurally barred — the court properly denied relief on that basis. The trial court's denial of relief as to this claim should not be disturbed.

VIII. THE JUROR INTERVIEW CLAIM

On pages 83-84 of his brief, Marquard argues that the trial court should have granted an evidentiary hearing on his claim that Rule 4-3.5(d)(4) of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar is "unconstitutional". The collateral proceeding trial court found this claim procedurally barred because it could have been but was not raised on direct appeal. (R585). That finding of procedural bar is in accord with settled Florida Law. See, Arbelaez v. State, 25 Fla. Law Weekly S586 (Fla. July 13, 2000); Brown v. State, 755 So.2d 616, 620 (Fla. 2000); Gaskin v. State, 737 So.2d 509 (Fla. 1999).

In addition to the procedural bar, this claim is insufficient as a matter of law, as the trial court found. In his brief, Marquard makes it clear that he has no indication of juror misconduct -- he merely wants to conduct the fishing expedition that this Court squarely rejected in *Arbelaez*, *supra*. Even if this

The lower court held: "In addition, the Defendant has set forth no reasonable basis upon which juror interviews could be granted in this case." (R585).

claim was not procedurally barred, it would fail as a matter of law. The lower court should be affirmed in all respects.

IX. THE JURY INSTRUCTION CLAIM

On pages 84-98 of his brief, Marquard raises various claims concerning the jury instructions that were given at the penalty phase of his capital trial. This claim was contained in Marquard's Rule 3.850 motion as Claim V. The collateral proceeding trial court found this claim procedurally barred because it could have been but was not raised on direct appeal to this Court. (R585). That disposition, which Marquard does not acknowledge in his brief, is the correct result.

Florida law is well-settled that claims that could have been but were not raised on direct appeal cannot be raised for the first time in a Rule 3.850 motion. The collateral proceeding trial court correctly applied that settled procedural rule, and denied relief on this claim. This Court should affirm that ruling, and, moreover, should decline to reach the merits of Marquard's procedurally barred jury instruction claims.

To the extent that the subsidiary claims deserve comment, Marquard's claim that "non-statutory aggravation" was introduced his claim is based upon out-of-context quotations of portions of the record. Likewise, the assertion that the sentencing court improperly considered non-statutory aggravation is based upon an out-of-context interpretation of the sentencing order. When the

order is read without slanting it to suit one's purpose, it is clear that the Court's statements are supported by the evidence, and are not "non-statutory aggravation". This claim would not be a basis for relief even if it were not procedurally barred.

The second sub-claim contained within this issue is Marquard's claim that the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravating circumstance jury instruction was inadequate. Marquard did not object to the jury instruction, and, under settled Florida law, did not preserve that issue for further review. Jackson v. State, 648 So.2d 85, 95 n. 8 (Fla. 1994). To the extent that Marquard suggests that counsel was ineffective for not objecting to the jury instruction, counsel is not ineffective for failing to anticipate changes in the law such as the one effected by Jackson v. State, 648 So.2d 85 (Fla. 1994). See e.g., Cherry v. State, 2000 WL 1424539 (Fla. 2000). Finally, there is no error because the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravator applies to this murder under any definition of that aggravating circumstance.

Marquard's third sub-claim contained in this issue is a claim that the trial court incorrectly instructed the jury on the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravating circumstance because the jury was not instructed that the defendant must "intend" to inflict unnecessary torture on the victim. Even if this claim were not procedurally barred, it would not be a basis for relief because Florida law is clear that there is no "intent element" associated

with the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravator. See, Guzman, 721 So.2d 1155 (Fla. 1998); Brown v. State, 755 So.2d 616, 620 (Fla. 2000).

The fourth sub-claim concerns the pecuniary gain aggravating circumstance jury instruction. This claim is procedurally barred because it was not raised on appeal -- this aggravator was not found, so any error in the jury instruction, even if there had been one, would be meaningless in the context of the case. To the extent that Marquard attempts to make this claim one concerning the "during the course of a robbery" aggravator, that claim is legally inapplicable as framed in Marquard's brief.

The fifth sub-claim contained in Marquard's brief is his claim that "during the course of a felony" aggravator is an unconstitutional "automatic" aggravating circumstance. In addition to being procedurally barred, this claim is meritless under settled law. Hunter v. State, 660 So. 2d 244, (Fla. 1995), Lowenfield v. Phelps, 484 U.S. 231 (1988).

The sixth sub-claim contained in Marquard's brief is his claim that the burden of proof was shifted to him to prove that death was not the proper sentence. In addition to being procedurally barred, this claim is meritless under settled case law. See, Boyde v. California, 494 U.S. 370 (1990); Blystone v. Pennsylvania, 494 U.S. 299 (1990).

X. THE CUMULATIVE ERROR CLAIM

On pages 98-99 of his brief, Marquard raises a perfunctory claim of "cumulative error" that does not identify with specificity the "errors" that he seeks to "cumulate". This claim was not raised in his Rule 3.850 motion, and, for that reason, is not properly before this Court on appeal. Moreover, in addition to the procedural bar to this claim, this claim is without merit because there are no "errors" to "cumulate". None of the claims contained in his Rule 3.850 motion, or the appeal from the denial thereof, are meritorious, and, further, a number of those claims are themselves procedurally barred. It takes no analysis to conclude that a procedurally barred claim cannot be resurrected by pleading it as a claim of "cumulative error", especially when the cumulative error claim is, itself, procedurally barred. To the extent that Marquard seeks to incorporate "errors ... revealed" in his direct appeal, this Court found no error in that proceeding. This claim is procedurally barred in addition to being meritless.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set out above, Marquard's conviction and sentence of death should be affirmed in all respects.